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Rachel J. Bredfeldt, OSB No. 05208 
rachel@toddshannonlaw.com 
TODD & SHANNON 
516 SE Morrison, Suite 1000 
Portland, Oregon 97214 
Telephone: (503) 232-2600 
Facsimile: (503) 232-2609 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Ondrea Hollinquest 
 
 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF OREGON  
 

ONDREA HOLLINQUEST, 

 

 Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

 

CITY OF PORTLAND, POLICE CHIEF 
ROSIE SIZER, and OFFICER NICHOLAS 
ROTHWELL,  

                         Defendants. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No: 3:08- CV-1469-KI 
  
FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR 
ASSAULT, BATTERY, CONSTITUTIONAL 
VIOLATIONS, and MUNICIPAL 
LIABILITY 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1. 

In the early afternoon of December 12, 2007, Ondrea Hollinquest was arrested by 

Officers Rothwell and Zylawy.  The Officers did an invasive search of Ms. Hollinquest in front 

of a group of onlookers.  The Officers ignored her request to have a female officer do the search.  

 The Officers then drove her around town with the car windows down, playing loud hip-
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hop music, for approximately 40 minutes before taking her to the Multnomah County Justice 

Center to be booked.    

THE PARTIES 

2. 

 At all material times the Plaintiff, Ondrea Hollinquest (hereinafter Plaintiff), resided in 

the City of Portland, County of Multnomah, State of Oregon. 

3. 

Defendant City of Portland (hereinafter the City) is organized under the laws of the State 

of Oregon with the capacity to sue and be sued.  The City is the legal and political entity 

responsible for the actions of the Portland Police Bureau (hereinafter Portland Police) and its 

officials and employees.  Portland Police is a department and division of city government within 

and controlled by the City and is the lead agency responsible for the deprivation of Plaintiff’s 

constitutional rights.  The City is sued in its own right and on the basis of the acts of its officials, 

agents, and employees, which were taken pursuant to improper training policies  and inadequate 

internal investigations of improper searches of female citizens.   

4. 

The Portland Police Chief, Rosie Sizer (hereinafter Chief Sizer) is the head of the 

Portland Police and is sued in her official capacity.  Chief Sizer is the general manager of the 

Portland Police and is responsible for its administration, operation, and training. At all times 

relevant herein, Chief Sizer was acting under color of state law. 
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5. 

At all material times Defendant Officer Nicholas Rothwell (hereinafter Officer Rothwell) 

was working under color of law for the City with the Portland Police. All events described herein 

occurred while he was on duty and working for the Portland Police. 

6. 

At all material times Officer Mark Zylawy (hereinafter Officer Zylawy) was working 

under color of law for the City with the Portland Police. All events described herein occurred 

while he was on duty and working for the Portland Police.  Officer Zylawy is now deceased. 

7. 

At all times mentioned herein Officers Rothwell and Zylawy were acting in the course 

and scope of their employment pursuant to authority delegated or conferred by the City in doing 

or failing to do the things complained of herein.   

THE FACTS 

8. 

On December 12, 2007, Plaintiff was stopped by Officers Rothwell and Zylawy at NE 

Rodney and Beech in Portland.   

9. 

Officer Rothwell grabbed Plaintiff’s right arm and according to his report put her arm in 

a “half-wrist lock” behind her back.  Officer Zylawy grabbed her left arm.  The officers took her 

to the side of their car and began to search Plaintiff.  

// 
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10. 

Plaintiff asked for a female officer to do the search.  The Officers ignored this request 

and proceeded to search her themselves.   

11. 

The Officers searched Plaintiff over her objections despite the fact that there were a 

group of construction workers nearby watching.  

12. 

The Officers lifted her arms above her head.  Officer Zylawy proceeded to lift Plaintiff’s 

bra and searched around her chest.  Officer Zylawy then put his hand inside the waistband of 

Plaintiff’s pants.  Plaintiff did not have on underwear.  Officer Zylawy searched inside Plaintiff’s 

pants and between her legs.  During the search several nearby onlookers were watching and 

Plaintiff’s body was exposed to public view.  Plaintiff repeatedly asked for a female officer to be 

called to do the search, a request the Officers disregarded.   Plaintiff struggled and repeated “no, 

no, please no.”  

13. 

The Officers placed Plaintiff in the back of the car.  The Officers turned on 95.5 FM and 

played very loud hip-hop music.  The Officers rolled down the windows of the car and drove 

Plaintiff around the neighborhood several times, playing the music at a loud volume the entire 

time.   

14. 

The Officers then took Plaintiff to the Old Town neighborhood and drove her around 

there, also with the windows rolled down and the music at a loud volume.   
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15. 

According to BOEC records, the Officers drove Plaintiff around for about 40 minutes 

before taking her to be booked at the Multnomah County Detention Center.    

16. 

At all times mentioned herein Officers Rothwell and Zylawy were acting in their 

individual capacities pursuant to authority delegated or conferred by named Defendants and, in 

doing or failing to do the things complained of, were acting within the scope of that authority. 

17. 

Plaintiff now brings claims for Assault, Battery, Constitutional violations, and Municipal 

Liability. 

THE CLAIMS 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF:  

State law claim- Assault and Battery Claim against the City of Portland for actions of 
individual officers Rothwell and Zylawy, pursuant to ORS 30.265 

18. 

 Paragraphs 1 through 17 are incorporated by reference herein. 

19. 

 On or about December 12, 2007 Officers Rothwell and Zylawy performed a search of 

Plaintiff.  Plaintiff repeatedly requested a female officer to be called to the scene to perform the 

search.  She said “no” and struggled during the search due to her discomfort and embarrassment.  

The Officers ignored her requests and searched her in front of a group of onlookers. Officer 

Rothwell held Plaintiff’s arms and Officer Zylawy searched her.  His search involved touching 

intimate parts of Plaintiff’s body and exposing her body to the onlookers.    



Page 6  FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

20. 

In doing these acts, Officers Rothwell had the intent to aid Officer Zylawy in making 

offensive contact with Plaintiff’s person, to cause embarrassment, discomfort, humiliation, and 

to cause fear of further imminent offensive contact. 

21. 

 Plaintiff did not consent to any of the acts of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy alleged 

above. 

22. 

 As a proximate result of the acts of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy, Plaintiff suffered 

anxiety, humiliation, and discomfort.  Plaintiff’s damages are described more fully in paragraph 

46. 

23. 

 Plaintiff was also placed in fear of additional offensive physical contact. 

24. 

 Defendants had notice of the claims within 180 days as required by ORS 30.275.   Notice 

was sent on April 8, 2008. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 

Fourth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Unreasonable and Unlawful Search 

(Claim against Officer Rothwell in his individual capacity) 

25. 

 Paragraphs 1 through 23 are incorporated by reference herein. 
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26. 

  At all times herein mentioned Officers Rothwell and Zylawy were the agents and 

employees of the Portland Police Bureau, and in doing the things alleged herein, were acting 

within the course and scope of their employment. 

27. 

The conduct of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy in searching Plaintiff incident to her arrest 

in an invasive manner, in front of a group of onlookers, and over her protests violated her right 

under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from unreasonable 

searches by law enforcement officials.  The protections of the Fourth Amendment are applied to 

state authorities by the Fourteenth Amendment. 

28. 

 This conduct violated Plaintiff’s Fourth Amendment rights because the conduct was 

unreasonable in subjecting Plaintiff to unnecessary public ridicule, embarrassment, humiliation, 

and discomfort. 

29. 

A cause of action for these violations of constitutional rights is provided by 42 U.S.C. § 
1983.  

30. 

 The actions of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy were the direct and proximate cause of 

Plaintiff’s mental distress, embarrassment, and humiliation, more fully described in paragraph 

44. 

// 
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31. 

 Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiff claims non-economic damages from Officer 

Rothwell and non-economic damages from the City for violation of her constitutional rights 

under color of law.   

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF: 

Fourth Amendment; 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

Unreasonable and Unlawful Seizure 

(Claim against Officer Rothwell in his individual capacity) 

32. 

Paragraphs 1 through 23 are incorporated by reference herein. 

33. 

  The conduct of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy in driving Plaintiff around high drug areas 

for 40 minutes, in a marked police cruiser, while playing loud music with the windows down, 

violated her right under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from 

an unreasonable and unlawful seizure.  Furthermore, the manner in which the Officers displayed 

Plaintiff in their car implied that she was cooperating with them as an informant, placing her at 

risk, violating her right to be free from unreasonable seizure. 

34. 

A cause of action for these violations of constitutional rights is provided by 42 U.S.C. § 
1983.  

35. 

 The actions of Officers Rothwell and Zylawy in violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional 

rights were the direct and proximate cause of humiliation, loss of liberty, stress, and fear, more 

fully described in paragraph 44. 
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36. 

 Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Plaintiff claims non-economic damages from Officer 

Rothwell and non-economic damages from the City for violation of her constitutional rights 

under color of law.   

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF: MUNICIPAL LIABILITY 

Constitutional Rights Violations by the City of Portland and Chief Sizer 

Due to Failure to Adequately Train and Supervise. 

37. 

 Paragraphs 1 through 35 are incorporated by reference herein. 

38. 

 The City, and Chief Sizer in her supervisory capacity as the Portland Police Chief, 

recklessly failed to adequately supervise, train, and discipline Portland Police Officers regarding 

inappropriate searches of female citizens.  The City and Chief Sizer have been deliberately 

indifferent to the need for training regarding inappropriate searches of female citizens by male 

officers. 

39. 

 The City, and Chief Sizer in her supervisory capacity as the Portland Police Chief, 

recklessly failed to adequately investigate complaints about Portland Police Officers’ 

inappropriate searches of female citizens. 

40. 

 As a direct and proximate result of the failure of the City and Chief Sizer to properly 

train, supervise and discipline police officers, Plaintiff was deprived of her Fourth Amendment 

rights to be free from unreasonable search and unlawful seizure. 
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41. 

As a direct, proximate, and foreseeable result of the violation of Plaintiff’s constitutional 

rights, she suffered the emotional injuries and humiliation described above and in Paragraph 44. 

42. 

A cause of action for these violations of constitutional rights is provided by 42 U.S.C. § 

1983.   Plaintiff claims non-economic damages from the City of Portland and Chief Sizer. 

ALL COUNTS 

43. 

 Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorneys fees and costs, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988. 

44. 

 As a result of the offenses committed against her person, privacy, and constitutional 

rights, Plaintiff suffered a loss of dignity, a loss of personal privacy, emotional pain and distress, 

nightmares, anxiety, distress, fear for her personal safety, and fear of the police due to police 

misconduct.  Plaintiff suffered non-economic damages in the amount of $50,000. 

45.  

 The United State District Court for the District of Oregon has jurisdiction over the federal 

claims pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C.  § 1331 and 1343 because they are claims for 

damages caused by violations of the Plaintiff’s rights secured by the Constitution and the Laws 

of the United States.  The Court has jurisdiction over the claims arising under state law pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(e).   

// 
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46. 

 Plaintiff gives notice of her intention to move for punitive damages. 

47. 

 Plaintiff demands a trial by jury of her peers on all claims. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows:   

1.  Findings and Orders against Officer Rothwell that he violated the protected 

constitutional rights of Plaintiff, causing her non-economic damages; 

2.  Findings and Orders that the municipal policies were defective as applied and caused 

Constitutional deprivations to be suffered by Plaintiff and injunctive relief is required to prevent 

recurring violations; 

3.  An award of non-economic damages in an amount of $50,000; 

4.  Plaintiff’s costs, disbursements and attorney fees, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1988; and 

5.  Such other and further relief, including all appropriate equitable relief, as the Court 

may deem proper and just. 

 

Dated this 20th day of February, 2009.      

  
 
       /s/ Rachel J. Bredfeldt        

              Rachel Bredfeldt, OSB #05208 
       Telephone: 503-232-2600 
       Facsimile:   503-232-2609 
       Of Attorneys for Plaintiff Ondrea Hollinquest  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

  
I hereby certify that on the date set forth below, I served a true copy of the foregoing 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR ASSAULT, BATTERY, CONSTITUTIONAL 
VIOLATIONS, and MUNICIPAL LIABILITY on the individual(s) listed below: 

 
 William Manlove 
 Office of City Attorney 
 1221 SW Fourth Avenue, Room 430 
 Portland, OR 97204 
  
 

 [ X] by mailing a full, true, and correct copy thereof in a sealed first-class postage- 
 prepaid envelope, addressed to the attorney as shown above, the last known office  
 address of the attorney, and deposited with the United States Postal Service at Portland,  
 Oregon, on the date set forth below.   
 
 [  ] by causing a full, true, and correct copy thereof to be hand-delivered to the  
 attorney at the attorney’s last-known office address listed above on the date set forth  
 below.   
 
 [  ] by sending a full, true, and correct copy thereof via overnight courier in a sealed,  
 prepaid envelope, addressed to the attorney as shown above, the last known office  
 address of the attorney, on the date set forth below. 
 
 [ X ] by faxing a full, true, and correct copy thereof to the attorney at the fax number  
 shown above, which is the last-known fax number for the attorney’s office, on the date  
 set forth below.  The receiving fax machine was operating at the time of service and the  
 transmission was properly completed. 
  
 
 DATED this 20th day of February, 2009. 

 
       /s/ Rachel J. Bredfeldt        

              Rachel J. Bredfeldt, OSB #05208 
    


